No. 45498-0-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

VS.

Lance Larson,

Appellant.

Kitsap County Superior Court Cause No. 13-1-00288-2 The Honorable Judge Jennifer A. Forbes

Appellant's Opening Brief

Jodi R. Backlund Manek R. Mistry Skylar T. Brett Attorneys for Appellant

BACKLUND & MISTRY

P.O. Box 6490 Olympia, WA 98507 (360) 339-4870 backlundmistry@gmail.com

ISSUES AND ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Mr. Larson's possession conviction violated his Fourteenth Amendment right to due process.
- 2. Mr. Larson's possession conviction was based on insufficient evidence.
- 3. The prosecution failed to prove that Mr. Larson's alleged possession was more than momentary handling or passing control of a pipe containing methamphetamine.
 - **ISSUE 1:** Neither ingestion of a controlled substance nor passing, momentary control is enough to prove possession. The jury convicted Mr. Larson of possessing methamphetamine based only on evidence that he had ingested and momentarily handled someone else's drugs. Did the state present insufficient evidence for a rational jury to find Mr. Larson guilty beyond a reasonable doubt?
- 4. Mr. Larson was denied his Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to the effective assistance of counsel.
- 5. Defense counsel was ineffective for failing to timely object to the admission of Mr. Larson's statement under the *corpus delicti* rule.
- 6. Defense counsel was ineffective for waiting to make his *corpus delicti* objection until after Mr. Larson had testified and corroborated his extrajudicial statement.
- 7. Defense counsel was ineffective for failing to propose an instruction necessary to the defense.
- 8. Defense counsel unreasonably failed to propose an instruction telling jurors that momentary handling or passing control is insufficient to establish possession.
 - **ISSUE 2:** Counsel provides ineffective assistance by rendering deficient performance that prejudices his/her client. Defense counsel delayed moving to suppress Mr. Larson's incriminating statement under the *corpus delicti* rule until after his client had provided the necessary corroborating testimony.

Was Mr. Larson denied his Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to the effective assistance of counsel?

- **ISSUE 3:** Defense counsel provides ineffective assistance by failing to propose instructions necessary to the defense. Mr. Larson's attorney failed to propose an instruction telling jurors that momentary handling and passing control are insufficient to prove possession of a controlled substance. Was Mr. Larson denied his Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to the effective assistance of counsel?
- 9. Mr. Larson's bail jumping conviction violated his Fifth, Sixth, and Fourteenth Amendment right to notice of the charges against him.
- 10. Mr. Larson's bail jumping conviction violated his state constitutional right to notice of the charges against him, under Wash. Const. art. I, §§ 3 and 22.
- 11. The Information was deficient because it failed to allege the essential elements of bail jumping.
- 12. The Information did not allege that Mr. Larson failed to appear "as required" by the order releasing him or admitting him to bail.
 - **ISSUE 4:** A charging document must apprise the accused of all of the essential elements of an offense. The Information charging Mr. Larson with bail jumping omitted an essential element of the crime. Did the charging document violate Mr. Larson's right to notice under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments and art. I, §§ 3 and 22?
- 13. Mr. Larson's bail jumping conviction infringed his Fourteenth Amendment right to due process because the court's instructions relieved the state of its obligation to prove an essential element of each crime.
- 14. The court's instructions failed to make the relevant legal standard manifestly clear to the average juror.
- 15. The court's elements instruction relieved the state of its burden to prove that Mr. Larson failed to appear "as required."
- 16. The trial court erred by giving Instructions No. 13.

- **ISSUE 5:** A court violates due process by failing to instruct the jury on every element of a charged offense. Here, the "to convict" instruction for bail jumping omitted an element of the charge. Did the trial court violate Mr. Larson's Fourteenth Amendment right to have the jury instructed on each element of the bail jumping offense?
- 17. The trial court erred by imposing attorney fees.
- 18. The trial court's imposition of attorney's fees infringed Mr. Larson's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to counsel.
- 19. The court erred by finding that Mr. Larson has the present or future ability to pay his legal financial obligations.
- 20. The trial court erred by adopting Finding of Fact No. 4.1(Judgment and Sentence).
 - **ISSUE 6:** A trial court may only impose attorney fees after finding that the offender has the present or likely future ability to pay. Here, the court imposed \$1135 in attorney fees but failed to conduct any inquiry into whether Mr. Larson could afford to pay the amount. Did the trial court violate Mr. Larson's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to counsel?
- 21. The trial court erred by imposing a jury demand fee in excess of that authorized by statute.
- 22. The trial court erred by imposing costs and fees that were not authorized by statute.
 - **ISSUE 7:** By statute, a court may order payment of a \$250 jury demand fee upon conviction following trial. Here, the court ordered Mr. Larson to pay a jury demand fee exceeding \$1400. Did the court exceed its authority in ordering Mr. Larson to pay a jury demand fee greater than \$250?
 - **ISSUE 8:** A court exceeds its authority by ordering payment of legal financial obligations beyond what is permitted by statute. The court ordered Mr. Larson to pay a \$500 contribution to the Kitsap County Sheriff's office and a \$100 contribution to an "expert witness fund," neither of which are

authorized by statute. Did the sentencing court exceed its authority?

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PRIOR PROCEEDINGS

On January 7, 2013, the police executed a search warrant targeting one of Lance Larson's roommates. RP 212, 225. During the search, the police found a methamphetamine pipe in a box of papers, some of which had Mr. Larson's name on them. The documents dated from 2008 to 2010. Ex 1; RP 172, 180, 187-88. Mr. Larson denied ownership of the pipe. He also told officers that he had last used meth at a party on New Year's Eve. RP 185, 216.

The state charged Mr. Larson with possession of methamphetamine. CP 1-2. At his omnibus hearing, the court told Mr. Larson that his next hearing would be on May 18th. RP 302. The court later corrected the date to May 14th. RP 304.

In the early afternoon of May 14th, Mr. Larson called his attorney's office and found out that he had missed his hearing at 10:30 that morning. RP 337. Mr. Larson called the clerk's office, and a clerk told him to call the prosecutor's office. RP 338. The prosecutor's office told Mr. Larson to go to court on May 16th to quash his warrant. He did so. RP 338, 346-47.

The state charged Mr. Larson with bail jumping. The Information alleged that:

On or about May 14, 2013, in the County of Kitsap, State of Washington, the above-named Defendant, having been released by court order or admitted to bail with knowledge of the requirement of a subsequent personal appearance before a court of this state or of the requirement to report to a correctional facility for service of sentence, did fail to appear or did fail to surrender for service of sentence in which a Class B or Class C felony has been filed, to wit: Kitsap County Superior Court Cause No. 13-1-0028802; contrary to Revised Code of Washington 9A.76.170. CP 2.

Both charges proceeded to a jury trial. At trial, Mr. Larson admitted that he had smoked meth at a party on December 31st. RP 310. He explained that a pipe was passed around at the party, and that he took two hits. RP 310, 351. He also admitted that he had received a positive urinalysis (UA) result for meth on January 2nd. RP 311-12. He said, however, that the pipe found in the house was not his and he had never seen it before. RP 316.

At the close of evidence, defense counsel moved to preclude the state from proceeding on the theory that Mr. Larson possessed meth on December 31st. RP 275. Counsel argued that the *corpus delicti* rule prohibited conviction based on Mr. Larson's statement alone. RP 375. The court noted that the *corpus delicti* rule only applies to extrajudicial statements, and that Mr. Larson had already corroborated his statement while on the witness stand. RP 400.

Defense counsel proposed an instruction defining possession.

Defendant's Proposed Instructions, Supp. CP. The court instructed the jury using this instruction, which included the following language:

... Proximity alone without proof of dominion and control is insufficient to establish constructive possession.... Once a substance is ingested by an individual, the individual no longer exercises dominion and control over the ingested substance; however, that ingestion may be circumstantial evidence of prior possession.

Court's Instructions, Supp CP.

Defense counsel did not request an instruction explaining that passing control or momentary handling is insufficient to prove possession. Defendant's Proposed Instructions, Supp CP; Defendant's Supplemental Proposed Instructions, Supp CP. At the state's request, the court submitted a special verdict to the jury, asking jurors to specify which instance of possession formed the basis for any guilty verdict on Count I. Special Verdict Form, Supp CP; RP 434.

The to-convict instruction for bail jumping listed the elements as follows:

- (1) That on or about May 14, 2013, the defendant failed to appear before a court;
- (2) That the defendant was charged with a class B or class C felony;
- (3) That the defendant had been released by court order with knowledge of the requirement of a subsequent personal appearance before that court; and
- (4) That the acts occurred in the State of Washington. Court's Instructions, Supp CP.

The jury convicted Mr. Larson of both charges. RP 490. By means of the special verdict form, jurors acquitted Mr. Larson of possessing the pipe and residual meth found in his home. RP 490. Instead, jurors found him guilty of possessing drugs at the party on December 31st. RP 490.

Over objection, the court ordered Mr. Larson to pay a "jury demand fee" of \$1439.74. Other fees imposed included \$1135 in attorney's fees, a \$100 contribution to the Kitsap County Expert Witness Fund, and a \$500 contribution to the Kitsap County Sheriff's office. CP 12; RP 514. Neither party made any argument or presented any evidence regarding Mr. Larson's financial situation. RP 501-29. The court entered a boilerplate finding that Mr. Larson had the present or future ability to pay legal financial obligations (LFOs). CP 12 (finding 4.1).

This timely appeal follows. CP 18-30.

ARGUMENT

- I. THE STATE PRESENTED INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO CONVICT MR. LARSON OF POSSESSION OF A CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE.
- A. Standard of Review.

A conviction must be reversed for insufficient evidence if, taking the evidence in the light most favorable to the state, no rational trier of fact could have found guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Chouinard*, 169 Wn. App. 895, 899, 282 P.3d 117 (2012) *review denied*, 176 Wn.2d 1003, 297 P.3d 67 (2013).

B. No rational jury could have found beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Larson possessed a controlled substance on December 31st.

Neither ingestion nor the presence of contraband in a person's body is sufficient to prove that s/he possessed the contraband. *State v. A.T. P.-R*, 132 Wn. App. 181, 185, 130 P.3d 877 (2006). Momentary handling or passing control of contraband is likewise insufficient to establish possession. *State v. George*, 146 Wn. App. 906, 920, 193 P.3d 693 (2008).

By special verdict, the jury convicted Mr. Larson of possessing methamphetamine on December 31. RP 490. The only evidence of possession on that date was Mr. Larson's statement that he had smoked meth at a party, combined with his positive UA three days later. RP 310-12, 351. That evidence was insufficient for a rational jury to find beyond a reasonable doubt that he had possessed a controlled substance. *A.T. P.-R*, 132 Wn. App. at 185; *George*, 146 Wn. App. at 920.

First, Mr. Larson's admission to ingesting meth is not enough to establish possession. *A.T. P.-R*, 132 Wn. App. at 185. Likewise, the

positive UA proves only that meth was absorbed into Mr. Larson's system, not that he possessed it. *Id.*

Second, even if the fact-finder relied on Mr. Larson's statement and his UA result as circumstantial evidence that he had physically held the meth pipe while at the party, that still would have been insufficient to convict. *George*, 146 Wn. App. at 920. At most, the evidence demonstrated that Mr. Larson had momentary, passing control of a controlled substance, which is not enough to prove possession. *Id*.

No rational jury could have found beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Larson possessed a controlled substance on December 31st.

Chouinard, 169 Wn. App. at 899. Mr. Larson's possession conviction must be reversed. *Id*.

II. Mr. Larson received ineffective assistance of counsel.

A. Standard of Review.

Ineffective assistance of counsel is an issue of constitutional magnitude that can be raised for the first time on appeal. *State v. Kyllo*, 166 Wn.2d 856, 862, 215 P.3d 177 (2009); RAP 2.5(a). Reversal is required if counsel's deficient performance prejudices the accused person. *Kyllo*, 166 Wn.2d at 862 (citing *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984)).

Counsel's performance is deficient if it (1) falls below an objective standard of reasonableness based on consideration of all of the circumstances and (2) cannot be justified as a tactical decision. U.S. Const. Amend VI; *Kyllo*, 166 Wn.2d at 862. The accused is prejudiced by counsel's deficient performance if there is a reasonable probability that the error affected the outcome of the proceedings. *Id*.

B. Defense counsel provided ineffective assistance by failing to seek suppression of Mr. Larson's statement under the *corpus delicti* rule at the beginning of trial.

The *corpus delicti* rule precludes conviction based solely on the accused's confession. *State v. Dow*, 168 Wn.2d 243, 249, 227 P.3d 1278 (2010). If the state fails to provide corroborating evidence for each element of the charge, the conviction must be reversed for insufficient evidence. *Id.* at 254. The *corpus delicti* rule requires suppression of an inculpatory statement to the police if it is not corroborated by independent evidence. *State v. Whalen*, 131 Wn. App. 58, 62, 126 P.3d 55 (2005).

The *corpus* rule only applies to extrajudicial statements. *State v. C.M.C.*, 110 Wn. App. 285, 288, 40 P.3d 690 (2002). Evidence introduced by the defense at trial can provide the necessary corroboration for *corpus delicti*. *State v. Pietrzak*, 110 Wn. App. 670, 680, 41 P.3d 1240 (2002).

Mr. Larson's defense attorney moved to preclude the state from proceeding based on the theory that he had possessed meth on December 31st. RP 375. Counsel noted that, under the *corpus* rule, the state had failed to provide evidence corroborating Mr. Larson's admission to using drugs on that date. RP 375.

But defense counsel did not make his *corpus* motion until after Mr. Larson had testified and the defense had rested. RP 375. Mr. Larson's attorney had already elicited the very corroboration the state needed to admit his extrajudicial statement and proceed on the theory that he had possessed drugs on New Year's Eve. RP 310-12. Failure to raise the issue earlier in the course of the trial was deficient performance. *Kyllo*, 166 Wn.2d at 862.

Mr. Larson was prejudiced by his attorney's deficient performance. The state would have been unable to provide evidence corroborating drug possession on December 31st. There is a substantial probability that defense counsel's error affected the outcome of the trial. *Kyllo*, 166 Wn.2d at 862.

Defense counsel provided ineffective assistance by failing to move for suppression of Mr. Larson's statement based on the rule of *corpus*

1

¹ The conviction was based on the December 31st possession.

delicti at the beginning of trial. *Id.* Mr. Larson's possession conviction must be reversed. *Id.*

C. Defense counsel provided ineffective assistance by failing to propose an instruction informing the jury that momentary handling is insufficient to establish possession.

To be minimally competent, an attorney must research the relevant law. *Kyllo*, 166 Wn.2d at 862. Absent a legitimate tactical justification, counsel's failure to propose a jury instruction necessary to the defense is ineffective assistance of counsel.² *State v. Powell*, 150 Wn. App. 139, 155, 206 P.3d 703 (2009). The accused is prejudiced by counsel's failure to propose a necessary jury instruction when the jury is provided with no way to recognize and weigh the legal significance of the evidence. *Id.* at 156-57. In such a situation, the jury is left believing it must convict even where the evidence supports acquittal. *Id.*

In order to establish possession, the state must prove that the accused had actual control over the item possessed. *George*, 146 Wn. App. at 920. Evidence of passing control or momentary handling is insufficient to prove possession. *Id*.

² Jury instructions must accurately state the law and permit each side to argue its theory of the case. *Strange v. Spokane Cnty.*, 171 Wn. App. 585, 601, 287 P.3d 710 (2012), reconsideration denied (Jan. 16, 2013), *review denied*, 177 Wn.2d 1016, 304 P.3d 114 (2013).

Defense counsel provided ineffective assistance by failing to propose an instruction telling the jury that evidence that Mr. Larson had momentarily handled drugs was not sufficient to convict him of possession. *Powell*, 150 Wn. App. at 155; *George*, 146 Wn. App. at 920.

The only evidence that Mr. Larson possessed drugs on December 31st was his admission to ingesting meth on that date. RP 310-12. The uncontroverted evidence demonstrated that Mr. Larson had only passing control of drugs that belonged to someone else. RP 310-12. At most, the evidence showed that Mr. Larson momentarily handled the drugs, which is insufficient to prove possession. *George*, 146 Wn. App. at 920.

Defense counsel provided ineffective assistance by failing to propose an instruction informing the jury that momentary handling was not enough to convict Mr. Larson of possession. *Powell*, 150 Wn. App. at 155; *George*, 146 Wn. App. at 920. Defense counsel did obtain an instruction that mere proximity is insufficient to prove possession, but left out the rule about passing control. Defendant's Proposed Instructions, Supp CP. Counsel had no valid tactical reason for failing to propose a complete instruction defining possession. *Powell*, 150 Wn. App. at 155; *George*, 146 Wn. App. at 920.

Mr. Larson was prejudiced by his attorney's deficient performance. *Kyllo*, 166 Wn.2d at 862. Without proper instruction, the jury was left

without the legal knowledge necessary to adequately consider the evidence. *Powell*, 150 Wn. App. at 156-57. The jury likely believed that the evidence of passing control on December 31st required conviction, even though the testimony actually supported acquittal. *Id.* There is a substantial probability that counsel's failure to propose the instruction affected the outcome of the trial. *Kyllo*, 166 Wn.2d at 862.

Mr. Larson received ineffective assistance of counsel when his attorney failed to propose an instruction informing the jury that momentary handling is insufficient to convict for possession. *Powell*, 150 Wn. App. at 155; *George*, 146 Wn. App. at 920. Mr. Larson's possession conviction must be reversed. *Id*.

- III. MR. LARSON'S BAIL JUMPING CONVICTION VIOLATED DUE PROCESS BECAUSE THE COURT'S "TO CONVICT" INSTRUCTION RELIEVED THE STATE OF ITS BURDEN TO PROVE EACH ELEMENT OF THE CHARGED CRIME.
- A. Standard of Review.

Alleged constitutional violations are reviewed *de novo*. *State v*. *Zillyette*, 178 Wn.2d 153, 161, 307 P.3d 712 (2013). A manifest error

affecting a constitutional right may be raised for the first time on review.³ RAP 2.5(a)(3).

Jury instructions are also reviewed *de novo*. *Anfinson v. FedEx Ground Package Sys., Inc.*, 174 Wn.2d 851, 860, 281 P.3d 289 (2012). Instructions must make the relevant legal standard manifestly apparent to the average juror. *Kyllo*, 166 Wn.2d at 864.

B. The court's "to convict" instruction did not include all the elements of bail jumping.

A trial court's failure to instruct the jury as to every element of the crime charged violates due process. U.S. Const. Amend. XIV; *State v. Aumick*, 126 Wn.2d 422, 429, 894 P.2d 1325 (1995). A "to convict" instruction must contain all the elements of the crime, because it serves as a "yardstick" by which the jury measures the evidence to determine guilt or innocence. *State v. Lorenz*, 152 Wn.2d 22, 31, 93 P.3d 133 (2004). The jury has the right to regard the court's elements instruction as a complete statement of the law. Any conviction based on an incomplete "to convict" instruction must be reversed. *State v. Smith*, 131 Wn.2d 258, 263, 930 P.2d 917 (1997). This is so even if the missing element is

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