NO. 45498-0-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON **DIVISION II**

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

LANCE WILLIAM LARSON,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF KITSAP COUNTY, STATE OF WASHINGTON Superior Court No. 13-1-00288-2

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

RUSSELL D. HAUGE Prosecuting Attorney

JEREMY A. MORRIS **Deputy Prosecuting Attorney**

614 Division Street Port Orchard, WA 98366 (360) 337-7174

Jodi R. Backlund, Manek R. Mistry, Skylar T. Brett Po Box 6490

Olympia, WA 98507-6490

Email: backlundmistry@gmail.com

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

The State acknowledges that the corpus rule requires that there be some independent evidence to corroborate a defendant's incriminating statement. *State v. Brockob*, 159 Wn.2d 311, 328, 150 P.3d 59 (2006).

The independent evidence needed, however, is viewed in a light most favorable to the State and "the independent evidence need not be sufficient to support a conviction." Id at 328. The independent evidence may be either direct or circumstantial and need not be of such character as would establish the corpus delicti beyond a reasonable doubt or even by a preponderance of the evidence. Aten, 130 Wn.2d at 656; Hummel, 165 Wn.App. at 759; Rooks, 130 Wn.App. at 802. It is sufficient if it prima facie establishes the corpus delicti. Aten, 130 Wn.2d at 656; Rooks, 130 Wn.App. at 802. "Prima facie" in the context of the corpus delicti rule means "evidence of sufficient circumstances which would support a logical and reasonable inference' of the facts sought to be proved." Aten, 130 Wn.2d at 656 (quoting State v. Vangerpen, 125 Wn.2d 782, 796, 888 P.2d 1177 (1995)); Rooks, 130 Wn.App. at 802. In analyzing whether there is sufficient evidence to support the corpus delicti of the crime, this court "assumes the truth of the State's evidence and all reasonable inferences from it in a light most favorable to the State." Aten, 130 Wn.2d at 658; Hummel, 165 Wn.App. at 759; Rooks, 130 Wn.App. at 802-03.

In the present case the independent evidence showed that the urinalysis test administered on January 2 came back positive for methamphetamine. In addition, a methamphetamine pipe was found in the Defendant's room a few days later. Viewing this evidence in a light most

favorable to the State, this evidence corroborated the Defendant's admission that he had smoked methamphetamine on or about New Year's Eve. Thus even if the Defendant had raised the corpus motion prior to trial, the result would have been the same, and the trial court below explained that it would have reached the same conclusion even if the Defendant's trial testimony did not factor into the analysis. See RP 400-1.

The Defendant, therefore, has failed to show that a corpus motion would have been granted if his counsel had raised the motion at an earlier point. The Defendant thus cannot show either deficient performance or prejudice, and his claim of ineffective assistance of counsel must fail.

C. THE DEFENDANT'S CLAIM THAT THE TRIAL **COURT'S** INSTRUCTIONS REGARDING BAIL **JUMPING** WERE IMPROPER IS WITHOUT MERIT AS THE **COURT'S INSTRUCTIONS** (WHICH MIRRORED THE WPIC INSTRUCTIONS) WERE SUFFICIENT TO INFORM THE JURY OF THE ELEMENTS OF THE CRIME AND TO ALLOW EACH PARTY TO ARGUE THEIR THEORY OF THE CASE.

The Defendant next claims that the "to-convict" instruction regarding the charge of bail jumping was improper. App.'s Br. at 15. This claim is without merit because the trial court used the WPIC instructions which were sufficient to inform the jury of the elements of the crime and to allow each party to argue their theory of the case.

A trial court has considerable discretion in selecting the wording of a jury instruction so long as it correctly states the law and allows each party to argue its theory of the case. *State v. Rosul*, 95 Wn.App. 175, 187, 974 P.2d 916 (1999) (*citing State v. Brown*, 132 Wn.2d 529, 618, 940, 940 P.2d 546P.2d 546 (1997), *cert. denied*, 118 S.Ct. 1192 (1998)). An appellate court is to consider "the context of the instructions as a whole," rather than viewing each instruction as an isolated mandate. *State v. Benn*, 120 Wn.2d 631, 654–55, 845 P.2d 289 (1993). In order for jury instructions to be sufficient, they must be readily understood and not misleading to the ordinary mind." *State v. Dana*, 73 Wn.2d 533, 537, 439 P.2d 403 (1968).

The crime of bail jumping is found in RCW 9A.76.170, which provides as follows:

(1) Any person having been released by court order or admitted to bail with knowledge of the requirement of a subsequent personal appearance before any court of this state, or of the requirement to report to a correctional facility for service of sentence, and who fails to appear or who fails to surrender for service of sentence as required is guilty of bail jumping.

The pattern "to convict" instruction for bail jumping, WPIC 120.41, provides as follows:

To convict the defendant of the crime of bail jumping, each of the following elements of the crime must be proved

beyond a reasonable doubt:

- (1) That on or about the (date), the defendant failed [to appear before a court][or][to surrender for service of sentence];
- (2) That the defendant [was being held for][or][was charged with][or][had been convicted of](fill in crime);
- (3) That the defendant had been released by court order [or admitted to bail] with knowledge of [the requirement of a subsequent personal appearance before that court][or][the requirement to report to a correctional facility for service of sentence]; and
- (4) That any of these acts occurred in the [State of Washington][City of _____][County of _____].

If you find from the evidence that each of these elements has been proved beyond a reasonable doubt, then it will be your duty to return a verdict of guilty.

On the other hand, if, after weighing all of the evidence, you have a reasonable doubt as to any one of these elements, then it will be your duty to return a verdict of not guilty.

WPIC 120.41.

In the preset case the trial court gave the jury several instruction on the crime of bail jumping including WPIC 120.40 (which defined the crime) and WPIC 120.41 (the "to convict" instruction). CP 53, 54. Those instructions provided as follows:

INSTRUCTION NO. 12

A person commits the crime of Bail Jumping when he or she fails to appear as required after having been released by court order with knowledge of the requirement of a subsequent personal appearance before a court in which the person was charged with a class B or class C felony.

INSTRUCTION NO. 13

To convict the defendant of the crime of Bail Jumping as charged in Count II, each of the following elements of the crime must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt—

- (1) That on or about May 14, 2013, the defendant failed to appear before a court;
- (2) That the defendant was charged with a class B or class C felony;
- (3) That the defendant had been released by court order with knowledge of the requirement of a subsequent personal appearance before that court; and
 - (4) That the acts occurred in the State of Washington.

If you find from the evidence that each of these elements has been proved beyond a reasonable doubt, then it will be your duty to return a verdict of guilty.

On the other hand, if, after weighing all of the evidence, you have a reasonable doubt as to any one of these elements, then it will be your duty to return a verdict of not guilty.

CP 53; 54. These instructions mirrored the WPIC instructions (with the inclusion of the relevant bracketed portions and the omission of the irrelevant portions) and the defense did not object to these instructions.

On appeal the Defendant claims that the trial court's to convict instruction was flawed because it did not require the jury to find that the Defendant failed to appear "as required." App.'s Br. at 17. This claim is clearly without merit.

The trial court's instruction number 12 clearly provides that a person only commits the crime of bail jumping when he or she "fails to appear as required after having been released by court order with knowledge of the requirement of a subsequent personal appearance." CP 53. Similarly, instruction 13 (which followed the pattern instruction) provides that the State must prove that the Defendant failed to appear and that he "had been released by court order with knowledge of the requirement of a subsequent personal appearance before that court." CP 54. These instructions were sufficient to inform the jury of the elements of the crime and to allow each party to argue their theory of the case.

Although the Defendant cites several cases in his brief, none of those cases hold that the pattern instructions used in the present case are defective for the reasons cited by the Defendant. Furthermore, the State is aware of no Washington cases that have ever held that the pattern bail jumping instructions are flawed for the reasons claimed by the Defendant.

In any event, it is clear that instructions 12 and 13 clearly were sufficient to inform the jury of the elements of the crime and to allow each party to argue their theory of the case. The Defendant's claim to the contrary, therefore, must fail.

D. THE DEFENDANT'S CLAIM THAT THE CHARGING LANGAUGE REGARDING THE **BAIL JUMPING** CHARGE WAS INSUFFICIENT IS WITHOUT **MERIT BECAUSE** THE **INFORMATION** CONTAINED ALL OF THE ESSENTIAL ELEMENTS OF THE CHARGED OFFENSE.

The Defendant next claims that the charging language regarding the bail jumping charge was insufficient. App.'s Br. at 18. This claim is without merit because the information contained all of the essential elements of the charged offense.

Under the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution and article I, section 22 of the Washington Constitution, a charging document must include all essential elements of a crime to inform a defendant of the charges against him and to allow preparation for the defense. *State v. Phillips*, 98 Wn.App. 936, 939, 991 P.2d 1195 (2000) (*citing State v. Kjorsvik*, 117 Wn.2d 93, 101–02, 812 P.2d 86 (1991)). A charging document is constitutionally sufficient if the information states each statutory element of the crime, even if it is vague as to some other matter significant to the defense. *State v. Holt*, 104 Wn.2d 315, 320, 704 P.2d 1189 (1985).

When a defendant challenges the sufficiency of a charging document, the standard of review depends on the timing of the challenge. State v. Ralph, 85 Wn.App. 82, 84, 930 P.2d 1235 (1997). If a defendant

challenges the sufficiency of the information "at or before trial," the court is to construe the information strictly. *Phillips*, 98 Wn.App. at 940 (*quoting State v. Vangerpen*, 125 Wn.2d 782, 788, 888 P.2d 1177 (1995)). Under this strict construction standard, if a defendant challenges the sufficiency of the information before the State rests and the information omits an essential element of the crime, the court must dismiss the case "without prejudice to the State's ability to re-file the charges." *Phillips*, 98 Wn.App. at 940 (*quoting Ralph*, 85 Wn.App. at 86, 930 P.2d 1235).

If, however, a defendant moves to dismiss an allegedly insufficient charging document after a point when the State can no longer amend the information, such as when the State has rested its case, the court is to construe the information liberally in favor of validity. *Phillips*, 98 Wn. App. at 942–43. As this Court has recently noted, these differing standards illustrate the balance between giving defendants sufficient notice to prepare a defense and "discouraging defendants' 'sandbagging,' the potential practice of remaining silent in the face of a constitutionally defective charging document (in lieu of a timely challenge or request for a bill of particulars, which could result in the State's amending the information to cure the defect such that the trial could proceed)." *State v. Kiliona-Garramone*, 166 Wn.App. 16, 23 n.7, 267 P.3d 426 (2011), *citing Kjorsvik*, 117 Wn.2d at 103; *Phillips*, 98 Wn.App. at 940 (citing 2 Wayne

R. LaFave & Jerold H. Israel, Criminal Procedure § 19.2, at 442 n. 36 (1984)).

In the present case, the Defendant did not challenge the sufficiency of the charging document below. Rather, the Defendant has raised this issue for the first time on appeal. Because the Defendant did not object to the information's sufficiency below, this Court is to apply the liberal standard set forth in *Kjorsvik* and construe the information in favor of its validity. *Kiliona-Garramone*, 166 Wn.App. at 24; *Phillips*, 98 Wn.App. at 942–43. Under this liberal standard of review, the court must decide whether (1) the necessary facts appear in any form, or by fair construction are found, in the charging document; and if so, (2) whether the defendant can show that he or she was nonetheless actually prejudiced by the inartful or vague language that he alleges caused a lack of notice. *Phillips*, 98 Wn.App. at 940 (*citing Kjorsvik*, 117 Wn.2d at 105–06).

As mentioned previously, the crime of bail jumping is found in RCW 9A.76.170, which provides as follows:

(1) Any person having been released by court order or admitted to bail with knowledge of the requirement of a subsequent personal appearance before any court of this state, or of the requirement to report to a correctional facility for service of sentence, and who fails to appear or who fails to surrender for service of sentence as required is guilty of bail jumping.

The Second Amended Information in the present case utilized the following charging language regarding the charge of bail jumping:

Count II

Bail Jumping

On or about May 14, 2013, in the County of Kitsap, State of Washington, the above-named Defendant, having been released by court order or admitted to bail with knowledge of the requirement of a subsequent personal appearance before a court of this state or of the requirement to report to a correctional facility for service of sentence, did fail to appear or did fail to surrender for service of sentence in which a Class B or Class C felony has been filed, to-wit: Kitsap County Superior Court Cause No. 13-1-00288-2; contrary to Revised Code of Washington 9A.76.170.

(MAXIMUM PENALTY (Failure to appear in Class B or Class C felony case)—Five (5) years imprisonment and/or a \$10,000 fine pursuant to RCW 9A.76.170 and RCW 9A.20.021(1)(c), plus restitution and assessments.)

CP 2.

As with the Defendant's previous claim regarding the jury instructions, the Defendant argues in the present appeal that the charging language was insufficient because it did state that the Defendant failed to appear "as required." App.'s Br. at 20. The charging language in the present case, however, clearly provides that the Defendant failed to appear "having been released by court order or admitted to bail with knowledge of the requirement of a subsequent personal appearance before a court of this state." CP 2. Because the Defendant did not object to the

information's sufficiency below, this Court is to apply the liberal standard set forth in *Kjorsvik* and construe the information in favor of its validity. *Kiliona-Garramone*, 166 Wn.App. at 24; *Phillips*, 98 Wn.App. at 942–43. Under this liberal standard of review, it is clear that the charging language outlined the necessary facts. In addition, even if could be argued that the language was vague or inartful the Defendant has shown absolutely no prejudice (especially in light of the fact that the failure to appear occurred in the present case and cause number). In short, the Defendant's claim is clearly without merit.

E. THE DEFENDANT'S CLAIM THAT THE TRIAL **COURT** ERRED IN IMPOSING LEGAL FINANCIAL **OBLIGATIONS** WITHOUT MERIT BECAUSE THE TRIAL COURT'S ORDER WAS CONSISTENT WITH WASHINGTON LAW. IN ADDITION, THE DEFENDANT WAIVED THE RIGHT TO RAISE THIS ISSUE ON APPEAL FAILING TO RAISE AN OBJECTION TO IN THE TRIAL COURT.

The Defendant next claims that the trial court erred in imposing legal financial obligations. App.'s Br. at 21. Specifically, the Defendant claims that the trial court erred when it ordered him to pay the cost of his court-appointed attorney. App.'s Br. at 26-27. This claim is without merit because the Defendant failed to preserve this issue for appeal.

In the present case the trial court's Judgment and Sentence contains a finding that "the Defendant has the ability or likely future ability to pay legal financial obligations." CP 12. The Defendant did not object to the entry of this finding. The trial court then went on to impose a \$1135 fee for Defendant's court appointed counsel and imposed a payment schedule of \$100 a month. CP 12. Again, the Defendant did not object.

This Court has recently held that a reviewing court need not address (or allow a defendant to raise) a claim regarding his ability to pay his legal financial obligations for the first time on appeal. *State v. Blazina*, 174 Wn.App. 906, 301 P.3d 492 (2013) *review granted*, 178 Wn.2d 1010, 311 P.3d 27 (2013); *citing* RAP 2.5. *See also, State v. Kuster*, 175 Wn.App. 420, 425, 306 P.3d 1022 (2013); *State v. Duncan*, __ Wn.App. ____, 2014 WL 1225910 (Div. 3, March 25, 2014) This court, therefore, should similarly reject the Appellant's argument concerning his legal financial obligations regarding the attorney's fees in the present case, as the Defendant failed to raise this issue below.³

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